1959

## Robert L. McMullin v. Lynwood F. Shimmin and Jacquie A. Shimmin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 20, 1958, defendants executed an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase on the standard form approved by the Utah State Securities Commission and the Salt Lake Real Estate Board for the purchase of real property. Plaintiff accepted this offer by signing it that same day.

Plaintiff alleges that defendants breached the terms of this agreement in April, 1958, by not going forward with said purchase. Defendants deny any liability under the agreement for various reasons set forth in their answer. Defendants paid plaintiff the sum of \$100.00 at the time the document referred to above was executed, and plaintiff has never returned or offered to return this money to defendants. On May 21, 1958, plaintiff brought an action for specific performance of the afore-said agreement and prayed in the alternative for damages for breach of contract in the event specific performance was not granted and for attorney's fees for enforcement of the contract in either case. On August 15, 1958, plaintiff sold the property in question to Elmer and Elma Klitgaard. At a pre-trial hearing held on November 7, 1958, Judge A. H. Ellett dismissed plaintiff's complaint with prejudice for the reason that plaintiff did not return nor offer to return to defendant the earnest money deposit referred to above prior to the commencement of this proceeding. On November 14, 1958, plaintiff filed a motion to alter judgment. Plaintiff's motion was denied by the Honorable A. H. Ellett on December 1, 1958, on the grounds that plaintiff could not maintain an action for damages after selling the subject property to a third person after commencing an action for specific performance or for damages in the alternative.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

## POINT I

THE PRE-TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE AT THE PRE-TRIAL HELD ON NOVEMBER 7, 1958.

## POINT II

THE PRE-TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO ALTER JUDGMENT.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE PRE-TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE AT THE PRE-TRIAL HELD ON NOVEMBER 7, 1958.

The issue here is whether a seller must restore consideration paid as a deposit on a contract to purchase real property in order to elect to enforce the contract upon buyer's breach by an action for specific performance or in the alternative for damages. In the case of *Andreason vs. Hansen*, ..... Utah ....., 335 P (2d) 404, it was held that the failure to return the deposit

on an earnest money agreement precluded a subsequent action for damages since the amount had thereby become liquidated at the election of the seller. No such election, however, could be claimed where the action commenced is one for specific performance. In the Andreason case, the successful buyers-appellants' brief stated as follows: "The cases clearly hold that where there is a provision for liquidated damages in a contract for the sale of real property, the fact that such a provision exists does not eliminate the right of seller to require specific performance of the contract rather than accept his other available remedy, that is liquidated damages." (P 4, 5). The pre-trial judge recognized this by stating at the conclusion of the proceedings of December 1, 1958, as follows: "I wasn't aware that the matter was for specific performance, nor was I aware that the land had been sold on November 7th. I had assumed it was an action for damages, and, of course, the Andreason case in my opinion would apply only to damages and not to specific performance actions" (R 23). Therefore, there was not and could not be an election in this case at the time this suit was commenced to retain the deposit as liquidated and agreed damages rather than to enforce the agreement.

## POINT II

THE PRE-TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT GRANTING  
PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO ALTER JUDGMENT.

The first issue here is whether a seller who commences an action for specific performance and in the alternative for damages is precluded from obtaining the latter remedy when he sells the property between the time the action is commenced and the case tried.

Rule 8(a) provides that relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded. Rule 8(e)(2) provides that a party may set forth as many separate claims as he has regardless of consistency and whether based on legal or on equitable grounds or both. In the case of *Pierson vs. Dorff*, 223 NW 579, 198 Wisc. 43 (1929), the vendee brought an action to recover \$500.00 earnest money paid vendor pursuant to alleged breach of real estate contract. Vendor counter-claimed for specific performance and thereafter moved to amend his complaint by pleading a counter-claim for damages based on vendee's breach. The court there said: "It is equally clear that the remedy of specific performance and that prosecuted to recover damages are not inconsistent remedies, because both are based upon the contract. . . . the mere commencement or pendency of one will not bar



the other or defeat the action.” That case cited this language from *Connihan vs. Thompson*, 111 Mass. 270: “The remedy in equity by compelling specific performance and that at law in damages for breach are both in affirmance of the contract. They are alternative remedies but not inconsistent, and remedy in both forms might be sought in one and the same action.”

The Wisconsin case cited above concluded: “From the foregoing it conclusively appears that the equitable remedy for specific performance and the legal remedy to recover damages are not inconsistent, especially where the action to recover damages is prosecuted after the abandonment of a plea for specific performance.”

Even if the remedies of specific performance and damages are considered inconsistent, many courts have held that the commencement of a suit is not a conclusive election and none occurs until plaintiff receives some benefit or defendant is caused some detriment thereby. 28 C.J.S. 1090

This court in the case of *Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission*, 17 P (2d) 239, cited the following language of 9 R.C.L. 960 with approval: “An election of a remedy which has the effect of an estoppel in pais or an estoppel by record in that class of cases in which the remedies

are really inconsistent is generally considered made when an action has been commenced on one of such remedies. Some courts go so far as to say that in such cases the choice of remedy once made can not be withdrawn or reconsidered though no advantage has been gained nor injury done by setting the choice aside. But the more reasonable rule is that the mere bringing of an action which has been dismissed before judgment, and in which no element of estoppel in pais has arisen, that is, where no advantage has been gained or no detriment has been occasioned, is not an election."

18 Am. Jur. 155 states the rule as applied to the type of case in question as follows: "Parties to a contract have a right to stand on the agreement as entered into by them and may, in a proper case, invoke the aid of the court for its specific enforcement, or at their option they may, upon breach of the contract, seek damages at law. When they resort to one of these remedies, such action may constitute an abandonment of the right to invoke the other. On this ground, an action for damages for breach of a contract has been held to bar a later suit for specific performance of the same contract, even though the first action was dismissed before judgment. On the other hand, the beginning of a suit for specific performance has been considered not such an election

of remedies as would bar a later action for damages for breach of the contract, where the first proceeding was discontinued before any advantage accrued to the plaintiff or detriment resulted to the defendant." The case of *McMahan v. McMahan*, 122 S.C. 336, 115 S.E. 293, 26 A.L.R. 1295, an action for breach of realty sale contract is cited as authority for that last statement of law.

The crucial question is: If seller elects to enforce a contract by commencing an action for specific performance, must he return any payments made by buyer prior to or immediately after he resells the subject property in order to pursue a remedy for damages for breach of contract when the damages exceed the amount of such payments?

As a practical matter it certainly would seem to be desirable to encourage sellers to resell their property after commencing an action for specific performance rather than compel an unwilling purchaser to buy a house he does not want. Once the property has been resold and it is ascertained that the seller's loss caused by the buyer's breach of contract is greater than the amount received by him on account of the purchase price, it would hardly seem reasonable to expect him to pay

such lesser amount to the buyer in order that he might sue him for a larger amount. To do so would be so inconsistent with the normal pattern of conduct that it is not to be expected.

If the principle of the Andreason case is extended to such a case as this where there was no overreaching, no vengeance, no deceptive nets, there is a grave danger that contracting parties will be deprived of the protection of their written agreements by overlooking a seemingly innocent provision there which appeared to be for their benefit by neglecting to return to the party at fault an insignificant amount and thereby falling into an unintended election of remedies, the result of which would be as grossly unfair as the judgment reversed in the Andreason case. It would appear to be a much more desirable rule to consider the question of election as one of fact rather than of law. Retention of the deposit is substantial evidence of election but it should not be incontrovertible so as to make it a rule of law.

Was not the holding in the Andreason case a result of the court's conscience being shocked that an attorney would and could obtain a judgment totalling \$2,350.00 when less than 24 hours elapsed between the time the contract there was executed and the breach occurred in

the absence of any evidence showing any material change in the market within that brief period of time? Should not the rule in that case be limited to very similar facts rather than given universal application in a case such as this where more than four months elapsed between the time defendants signed the agreement and the time they indicated they would not go through with this sale? Otherwise a just result in that case will probably result in unjustifiable protection to contract breakers in the future.

### CONCLUSION

The judgment of dismissal of the District Court of Salt Lake County should be vacated and the cause remanded to the District Court to ascertain whether a valid agreement was entered into between plaintiff and defendants, and if so, whether the latter are liable for breach of the agreement, and if so, to enter judgment accordingly, including reasonable attorney's fees.

Very respectfully submitted,

ROBERT B. HANSEN

*Attorney for Appellant  
and Plaintiff*

65 East 4th South