1959

Robert L. McMullin v. Lynwood F. Shimmin and Jacquie A. Shimmin : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff's statement of facts in his brief is substantially correct. However, exception is taken to the last sentence of these facts wherein reference is made to the trial court's ruling. The court's ruling was that the plaintiff was not entitled to maintain an action for specific performance where he had sold and conveyed away the property and was therefore unable to specifically perform himself.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE. Plaintiff cannot enforce specific performance of a contract to sell land where subsequent to the contract's execution he sold and conveyed all the property covered by the contract to a third party.

POINT TWO. Plaintiff is barred after conveying the property to a third party from recovering damages as an incident to the equitable action of specific performance.

POINT THREE. Plaintiff having retained the earnest money is barred from recovery in an action at law for damages.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

PLAINTIFF CANNOT ENFORCE SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF A CONTRACT TO SELL LAND WHERE SUBSEQUENT TO THE CONTRACT'S EXECUTION HE SOLD AND CONVEYED ALL THE PROPERTY COVERED BY THE CONTRACT TO A THIRD PARTY.

The law is clear and unequivocal that the vendor of land cannot maintain an action of specific performance to compel the vendee to perform the purchase of said land where the vendor has sold or conveyed the property to a third party.

“ * * * it has been repeatedly held that a vendor cannot enforce specific performance, where subsequent to the execution of the contract he has conveyed a

substantial part of the property therein embraced to a third person."

Suburban Improv. Co. v.
Scott Lumber Co., 4th Cir., 1933,
67 F. 2d 335, 90 A.L.R. 330

Additional cases citing this proposition of law are found in the following annotations: 4 A.L.R. 408, 57 A.L.R. 1253, 1263, 90 A.L.R. 337. The recent case of First National Bank vs. Laperle, 117 Vt. 144, 86 A. 2d 635, 30 A.L.R. 2d 958, clearly summarized the law when the court ruled:

"A decree for specific performance in favor of a vendor in a land contract cannot properly be granted after full conveyance of the premises in question."

The Utah Supreme Court in the case of Foxley v. Rich, 35 U. 162, 99 P. 666, ruled that plaintiff's conduct of selling the property prior to the rendition of the decree for specific performance would constitute a repudiation of the contract by the plaintiff and therefore he would be precluded from maintaining an action for specific performance. The court said, *inter alia*, at page 670.

"But the true principle upon which the decisions rest is that the effect that such a conveyance will be given depends upon the intention of the parties, and upon whether the title is in fact placed beyond the control of the vendor so his acts amount to a repudiation of his contract. If such is the effect, the vendee need not perform."

The facts in the case now before the court show that the land in question was sold and conveyed by the plaintiff to third parties after the commencement of the action, but months before the pre-trial on November 7, 1958. R. 13, R. 22. The

record further shows that the consideration paid by the new purchasers was in excess of the amount that the defendants were to pay for the same property.

“Specific enforcement will not be decreed if the plaintiff has himself committed a material breach unless refusal of the decree will effectuate an unjust penalty or forfeiture.”

Restatement of Law, Contracts, Sec. 375

The plaintiff, having received a greater amount from the new purchasers than he would have from the defendants, cannot be heard to say that the refusal to grant the decree will effectuate an unjust penalty or forfeiture.

POINT TWO

PLAINTIFF IS BARRED AFTER CONVEYING THE PROPERTY TO A THIRD PARTY FROM RECOVERING DAMAGES AS AN INCIDENT TO THE EQUITABLE ACTION OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

Under the common law, specific performance being an equitable action precluded the equity court from awarding damages as an incident to an action for specific performance. However, this situation was changed by the passage in England of what is known as the “Lord Cairn’s Act.” (Chancery Amendment Act, 21 and 22 Veit., Ch. 27, Sec. 1). The application of this act has lead to an equity court awarding damages in an action for specific performance as an adjunct to or in lieu of a decree of enforcement, thereby giving complete adjudication

in one action. The law as practiced today has generally allowed the inclusion of a prayer for damages as an alternative to specific performance in an action in equity for specific performance.

However, as stated in 49 Am. Jur. 196, Specific Performance, Sec. 173:

"The awarding of damages by a court of equity in a suit for specific performance in lieu of a decree of performance is exceptional, for the very reason that jurisdiction of such suit depends on the essential fact that a judgment at law for damages would not be an adequate remedy, and jurisdiction to award damages is exercised only under special circumstances, to prevent injustice."

A plaintiff, in making an election to sue for specific performance instead of an action at law for damages, must of necessity proceed through the equitable action with clean hands.

Pomeroy, in his work, "Specific Performance of Contracts," 3rd Ed., Sec. 354, p. 762, states:

" * * * the plaintiff must perform all the terms on his part, and that the party coming into a court of equity for its relief must himself do equity."

If the plaintiff has made specific performance impossible due to his own actions, the equity court cannot then accord that plaintiff equitable relief or any relief which arises out of the equitable action.

"Ordinarily, a bill for specific performance will not be retained for the assessment of damage where the plaintiff fails to make out a case for specific perform-

ance and no other special equity is shown which will support jurisdiction of the court * * * ”

49 Am. Jur. 196

Specific Performance, Sec. 173

The law is clear that where the plaintiff knows at the time of bringing the action that specific performance is impossible, there can be no award of damages, but the plaintiff will be left to his remedy at law. Pomeroy's Specific Performance of Contracts, 3rd Ed., Sec. 475, pp. 957, 958.

So, too, where the plaintiff, after the commencement of the action, has voluntarily done an act which makes specific performance impossible, through no fault of the defendant, the plaintiff is precluded from continuing on his action for specific performance. He must then either dismiss his action and start anew or amend his pleadings in conformity with the rules on civil procedure to sue in an action at law for damages.

There is nothing under the rules of civil procedure which would preclude the plaintiff from amending his pleadings. However, his failure to amend and his affirmative stand on his pleadings, then constitutes an election, upon which election the plaintiff is then bound by any subsequent rulings of the court.

An examination of plaintiff's pleadings reveals that the plaintiff proceeded in this action on one theory and only one theory, that of specific performance. Rule 8 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows a plaintiff to state inconsistent claims or counts in his complaint and the whole intent of the Rules is to allow free amendment of pleadings. However,

where plaintiff chooses to stand on his pleadings, then an election of remedies occurs and the plaintiff is bound by this decision.

The plaintiff cites the Utah case of Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission, 81 U. 203, 17 P. 2d 239, in support of his contention that he has not made an election of remedies. The Supreme Court, in that case, ruled:

"While there is some conflict in the adjudicated cases as to the effect of the mere commencement of an action, the authorities are quite generally agreed that it is the first decisive act of election that is binding and that subsequent acts may not be said to constitute an election."

In a Utah case which is factually more closely allied to the case now before the court than the Salt Lake City case, the Supreme Court held:

"The true rule seems to be (1) that there must be, in fact, two or more coexisting remedies upon which the party has the right to elect; (2) the remedies thus open to him must be alternative and inconsistent; and (3) he must be actually bringing an action or by some other decisive act, with knowledge of the facts, indicate his choice between these inconsistent remedies. 20 C. J. 19-37 and cases there cited. With such elements present, an election once deliberately made by the institution of a suit, by which the remedy is sought to be recovered, is final and his failure to secure satisfaction by means of the remedy which he has adopted furnishes no legal reason to permit him to resort to the other." (Citing cases).

Cook vs. Covey-Ballard Motor Co.
69 U. 161, 253 P. 196

Additional Utah cases on election appear in the annotation in 6 A.L.R. 2d 80.

The record discloses that plaintiff did not in fact attempt to amend his pleadings up to and including the date of the hearing on his motion to alter judgment. This failure constitutes an election to stand on the equitable action. Plaintiff did this because of the ruling of the court in the *Andreasen vs. Hansen Case*, U., 335 P. 2d 404, which ruling bars the plaintiff from maintaining an action for damages because of his failure to tender back the earnest money to the defendants. The plaintiff seeks to maintain his equitable action for specific performance and obtain damages in lieu of enforcement of the contract, and thereby go around the *Andreasen case*. However, as stated above, the law is that where the plaintiff has, through his own conduct, made specific performance impossible, the action will not be retained by the courts for assessment of damages which the plaintiff may have suffered.

“Pursuant to the principle that a court of equity once having properly acquired jurisdiction in a suit for specific performance will make a complete adjudication of all matters properly presented and involved in the case, the court will in proper cases where, *through no fault of the plaintiff*, specific performance cannot or will not be decreed, grant, in lieu thereof, monetary damages which the plaintiff may be entitled to recover at law in an action for breach of contract.”

49 Am. Jur., 195, Specific Performance, 172
(Emphasis ours)

49 Am. Jur. 197, Specific Performance, Sec. 173, states:

“Even when the plaintiff has made out a proper case

for the retention of his bill and the awarding of damages in lieu of a specific performance, the court will not grant that substituted remedy unless it is requested, or unless damages are claimed."

While it is true that plaintiff in his prayer for relief did request damages, in the body of the complaint itself there are no allegations of any special damages as required by Rule 9(g) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides:

"Special Damage. When items of special damages are claimed, they shall be specifically stated."

The only damages alleged by plaintiff in his complaint is for a reasonable attorney's fee. As ruled by this court in the Andreassen case:

"The award of attorney's fees is conditioned upon the necessity for incurring them and upon the plaintiffs being justified in their demands."

In the case now before the court, the plaintiff's conduct in selling the property to a third party is evidence of the fact that the action for specific performance was not necessary, and that the incurring of attorney's fees for the purpose of commencing an action of specific performance was completely unnecessary.

Further, the damages asked for in plaintiff's prayer for relief, "that plaintiff have judgment against defendants for the difference between the contract price and the fair market value of the property," limits the amount of damages that the plaintiff could recover, as the court cannot go beyond plaintiff's demands and award greater damages, especially where the plaintiff at no time attempted to amend his pleadings to incorporate claims of greater damage.

What, then, is the amount of the damage that the court could award? The contract price of the property was \$17,500.00. The property was sold by plaintiff for \$17,950.00. This court, in the recent decision of Vrontikis Bros. et al vs. State Tax Commission, ruled:

“The accepted formula for determining fair market value is * * * what would a purchaser willing to buy but not required to do so, pay and what would a seller willing to sell but not required to do so ask.”

Certainly, the plaintiff cannot say that he was under any compulsion to sell this property, and, as a third party bought the property, as a matter of law it may be said that the fair market value of the property in question was \$17,950.00.

What, then, has the plaintiff suffered? There was no need to retain the services of an attorney for an action of specific performance, when the plaintiff's conduct points out that he never did have the intention of enforcing specific performance against the defendants, and, as to damages, the plaintiff received \$450.00 more for his property than he would have received had he sold it to the defendants.

POINT THREE

PLAINTIFF HAVING RETAINED THE EARNST MONEY IS BARRED FROM RECOVERY IN AN ACTION AT LAW FOR DAMAGES.

The case now before the court stems from a factual situation similar to the Andreasen vs. Hansen case. The same earnest money receipt and offer to purchase used in the Andreasen

case was used in this matter and the same representations that if the purchasers did not want the house the money paid would be forfeited and the matter closed. Like in the Andreasen case, the plaintiff in this matter chose to retain the earnest money (\$100.00), and has never tendered its return to the defendants. This retention constitutes the exercising of the option by the vendor (plaintiff) to retain the earnest money as the agreed and liquidated damages.

Plaintiff in his brief alleges that the trial court based its decision on the Andreasen case. This is not borne out by statement of the trial court made during the argument on the motion to alter judgment.

“Well, the motion to alter the judgment will be denied, and the ruling of the court on November 7 will be affirmed because it appears that the plaintiff has put it beyond himself to specifically perform at this time.”

R. 23

The issue in this case is not whether or not plaintiff should have tendered back the earnest money, because plaintiff has not amended his pleadings to come in damages. The issue of this case is whether or not plaintiff by having sold and conveyed the property is barred from maintaining his equitable action on specific performance. Of course the Andreasen case is in issue as far as its effect on the matter if the plaintiff had amended his pleadings so as to come in damages, or if plaintiff's actions can be construed to be an amendment of his pleadings. If there has been an amendment effectuated, the pleadings and record do not so indicate.

SUMMARY

The plaintiff, by selling and conveying the property he was seeking to compel the defendants to purchase by specific performance of a contract, has precluded the court from decreeing specific performance or awarding damages in lieu of the specific performance. The plaintiff is barred by having retained the earnest money paid to him by the defendants from maintaining an action at law for damages. The pleadings and the record show that the plaintiff in any event has not been injured in any way by the defendants, but in fact has profited some \$450.00 by the defendants' refusal to purchase the property. Plaintiff is not entitled to any relief and the trial court was correct in dismissing plaintiff's complaint for specific performance with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted,

COTRO-MANES & COTRO-MANES

*Attorneys for Respondents
and Defendants*